## 

	I .								
1	BROWNE GEORGE ROSS LLP								
2	Peter Obstler (State Bar No. 171623)  pobstler@bgrfirm.com  44 Martin and State 1220								
3	44 Montgomery Street, Suite 1280 San Francisco, California 94104								
4	Telephone: (415) 391-7100 Facsimile: (310 275-5697								
5	Eric M. George (State Bar No. 166403)								
6	egeorge@bgrfirm.com Debi A. Ramos (State Bar No. 135373)								
7	Keith R. Lorenze (State Bar No. 326894)								
8	klorenze@bgrfirm.com 2121 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 2800								
9	Los Angeles, California 90067 Telephone: (310) 274-7100								
10	Facsimile: (310) 275-5697	una Tin							
11	Attorneys for Plaintiffs Kimberly Carleste Newman, Lisa Cabrera, Catherine Jones and Denotra Nicole Lewis								
12	UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT								
13	NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION								
14									
15	Kimberly Carleste Newman, Lisa Cabrera, Catherine Jones, and Denotra Nicole Lewis,	Case No.							
16	Plaintiffs,	CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT,							
17	VS.	RESTITUTION AND DAMAGES							
18	Google LLC, YouTube LLC, Alphabet Inc,								
19	and DOES 1 through 100, inclusive,	Trial Date: None Set							
20	Defendants.	That Bate. I voite set							
21									
22									
23									
24									
25									
26									
27									
28									



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

2					<b>Page</b>	
3	I.	INTRODUCTION AND PREFATORY STATEMENT OF THE CASE1				
4	II.	PARTIES14				
5	III.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE				
6	IV.	FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS17				
7		A.	A. The Governing Agreements			
8			1.	The General Terms Of Use And Contract-Based Promises	20	
9			2.	The License Provisions	23	
10 11		В.		dants Are Engaged In Anti-Competitive, Unlawful, Deceptive And Business Practices	25	
12		C.	Defen	dants' Tool Kit For Unlawful Conduct	27	
13			1.	Artificial Intelligence Algorithm Restrictions	27	
14			2.	Excluding Channels And Videos From Full Revenue Generation	30	
15			3.	Misapplying "Restricted Mode"	31	
16			4.	Shadow Banning Channels And Videos	36	
17			5.	Delegating Content Review And Regulation To Racists And White Supremacists	38	
18			6.	Interfering With Livestream Broadcasts	39	
19 20			7.	Excluding Videos From "Trending" And "Up Next" Video Recommendations	40	
21			8.	Freezing Channel Analytics Re Subscribers And Viewers	41	
22			9.	Promoting And Profiting From Hate Speech	42	
23			10.	Interfering With, Obstructing, Ignoring And Delaying Appeals	43	
24		D.		dants Have Violated And Continue To Violate The Rights Of Plaintiffs he Class	45	
25			1.	Kimberly Carleste Newman	45	
26			2.	Lisa Cabrera	50	
<ul><li>27</li><li>28</li></ul>			3.	Catherine Jones	56	



1	TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)							
2		<b>Page</b>						
3	4. Denotra Nicole Lewis	56						
4	V. CLASS ALLEGATIONS	60						
5	VI. INDIVIDUAL CAUSES OF ACTION	64						
<ul><li>6</li><li>7</li></ul>	FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION REQUEST FOR A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT THAT SECTION 230(c) IMMUNITY IS INAPPLICABLE TO DISCRIMINATION CLAIMS (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)							
8	A. Procedural Background Facts							
9	B. Justiciable Legal Controversies Currently Exist Regarding The Construction And Constitutionality Of 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)	71						
11	1. An Actual Controversy Exist As To Whether The Provisions Of Section 230(c) Immunize Defendants From Race, Personal Identity,							
12 13	or Viewpoint Discrimination In Filtering And Blocking On line Content And Access	72						
14	An Actual Controversy Exists As To Whether Section 230(c)     Immunizes Defendants For Conduct That Violates	72						
15 16	3. The Provisions And/or Application Of Any Part Of Section 230(c) To Claims Arising Out Of Race, Identity, Or Viewpoint Discrimination Is Unconstitutional	72						
17 18	4. The Executive Order Precludes The Government From Arguing Or Enforcing Section 230(c) To Claims Based On Intentional Identity Or Viewpoint Discrimination.	73						
19	C. Plaintiffs Served Rule 5.1 Notice On The U.S. Attorney General	74						
20	SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)	75						
21	THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF	13						
22	GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)	77						
<ul><li>23</li><li>24</li></ul>	FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)							
25	FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DISCRIMINATION IN CONTRACT IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)							
<ul><li>26</li><li>27</li><li>28</li></ul>	SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR UNLAWFUL DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF THE UNRUH CIVIL RIGHTS ACT (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)							



1			TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)			
2				<b>Page</b>		
3 4	SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR FALSE ADVERTISING IN VIOLATION OF THE LANHAM ACT, U.S.C. § 1125, et seq. (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)			85		
<ul><li>5</li><li>6</li></ul>	EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR UNLAWFUL, DECEPTIVE, AND UNFAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES CAL. BUS. & PROFS. CODE §17200, et seq. (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)					
7 8	NINTI	H CAU	SE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION CLE I, SECTION 2 (On Behalf Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)			
9 10	TENT	AME	ISE OF ACTION FOR FREEDOM OF SPEECH UNDER THE FIRST NDMENT, UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENT 1 (On f Of Each Plaintiff Individually And The Class)	93		
11		A.	Procedural Background	93		
12		B.	Permissive Endorsement Allegations Of State Action	96		
13		C.	State Action Allegations Under The Public Function Test	98		
14		D.	Defendants' Conduct Violates The First Amendment	99		
15	VII.	PRAY	TER FOR RELIEF	101		
16	VIII.	JURY	TRIAL DEMAND	103		
17						
18						
19						
20						
21						
22						
23						
24						
25						
26						
27						
28	l					



9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

Plaintiffs, Kimberly Carleste Newman, Lisa Cabrera, Catherine Jones, and Denotra Nicole Lewis, bring this lawsuit (the "Lawsuit"), individually and on behalf of a putative class of similarly situated persons, against Defendant YouTube LLC ("YouTube"), and its parent companies, Google LLC ("Google") and Alphabet Inc. (collectively referred to as "Google/YouTube" or "Defendants," unless otherwise specified).

Substantial overlaps exists between the claims, allegations, putative classes and issues in this Lawsuit with case pending before this Court captioned Divino Group, LLC et al., v. Google, LLC, et al, Case No. 5:19-cv-004749 – VKD (N.D. Cal.) ("Divino"). After reviewing Civil L.R. 3-12 governing related cases, it is unclear whether this Lawsuit technically meets the specific criteria and elements required for relation under Local Rule 3-12. Specifically, this Lawsuit does not involve all of "the same parties," or the identical "property" owned by the same parties in Divino. It is also unclear whether the "transactions" are the same within the meaning of Local Rule 3-12 or whether the "events" consist of the identical unlawful conduct of restricting of access to the YouTube platform based on the profiling and discriminatory use of a person's personal identity or viewpoint in *Divino* that may be different from the racial identity profiling and discrimination against Plaintiffs and the members of the Class in this Lawsuit. Consequently, while Plaintiffs do not believe that all of the requirements for designating the Lawsuit "related" come within the definition of Local Rule 3-12, Plaintiffs are not opposed to having this Lawsuit related to, or otherwise coordinated with, the pending proceedings in *Divino*.

#### INTRODUCTION AND PREFATORY STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. Plaintiffs are African American content creators, viewers, and consumers who bring this Lawsuit to redress overt, intentional, and systematic racial discrimination perpetrated by Google/YouTube to deny them and other members of a protected racial classification under the law equal access to YouTube, the most "ubiquitous" provider of public video content and internet access services in the history of the world.
- 2. Defendants are members of the largest business enterprise, private or public, in the world. Through this enterprise, Defendants exercise complete, absolute, and "unfettered" control 28 over access to approximately 95% of all video content that is available to the public. This includes



# DOCKET

# Explore Litigation Insights



Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of knowing you're on top of things.

# **Real-Time Litigation Alerts**



Keep your litigation team up-to-date with **real-time** alerts and advanced team management tools built for the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, State, and Administrative courts across the country.

## **Advanced Docket Research**



With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm's cloud-native docket research platform finds what other services can't. Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

Identify arguments that have been successful in the past with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited within any court document via Fastcase.

## **Analytics At Your Fingertips**



Learn what happened the last time a particular judge, opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are always at your fingertips.

### API

Docket Alarm offers a powerful API (application programming interface) to developers that want to integrate case filings into their apps.

#### **LAW FIRMS**

Build custom dashboards for your attorneys and clients with live data direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal tasks like conflict checks, document management, and marketing.

#### **FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS**

Litigation and bankruptcy checks for companies and debtors.

### **E-DISCOVERY AND LEGAL VENDORS**

Sync your system to PACER to automate legal marketing.

